S263375

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Case No. S

 \mathbf{v} .

MARIO SALVADOR PADILLA,

Defendant and Appellant.

Second Appellate District, Division Four, Case No. B297213 Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. TA051184 The Honorable Ricardo R. Ocampo, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ISSUE PRESENTED

In *In re Estrada* (1965) 63 Cal.2d 740, this Court established a presumption that, in the absence of a savings clause, the Legislature intends an ameliorative change in the criminal law to apply to all nonfinal judgments. Does the *Estrada* presumption apply when a judgment was final before the ameliorative change in the law but is later altered or amended for a reason unrelated to the new law?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 1999, appellant was prosecuted in adult court and convicted by a jury of the murder of his mother (Pen. Code, § 187, subd. (a)) and of conspiracy to murder his stepfather (§ 182, subd. (a)(1)). Appellant was 16 years old at the time he

¹ All further statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise indicated.

committed the crimes. The jury found true the special circumstances that the murder was committed during the course of a robbery and while lying in wait. (§ 190.2, subds. (a)(15) & (a)(17).) Appellant was sentenced to life without the possibility of parole (LWOP). (See *People v. Padilla* (June 1, 2001, B135651) [nonpubl. opn.] (*Padilla* I), at pp. 12-13.)

On direct appeal, the Court of Appeal reversed the lying-in-wait special circumstance finding for insufficient evidence but otherwise affirmed the judgment. (*Padilla* I, at pp. 12-13.) This Court denied review (case number S098893) and, on December 18, 2001, the time within which appellant could seek a writ of certiorari in the United States Supreme Court expired. (Opn. 4; see *People v. Ketchel* (1966) 63 Cal.2d 859, 864.)

Beginning about 10 years later, the United States Supreme Court issued a series of decisions recognizing constitutional limits on lengthy sentences for juvenile offenders. (See *Graham v. Florida* (2010) 560 U.S. 48; *Miller v. Alabama* (2012) 567 U.S. 460; *Montgomery v. Louisiana* (2016) 136 S.Ct. 718.) Our Legislature also enacted a statutory procedure, codified in section 1170, subdivision (d)(2), under which certain juvenile offenders may seek resentencing. (*People v. Kirchner* (2017) 2 Cal.5th 1040, 1049-1050.)

In August 2013, appellant filed a petition for recall and resentencing in the trial court pursuant to section 1170, subdivision (d)(2). The trial court denied the petition, finding that appellant was ineligible for resentencing because his offense involved torture. Appellant appealed that ruling in case number

B257408. (*People v. Padilla* (November 20, 2015, B257408) [nonpubl. opn.], at p. 5.) The Court of Appeal concluded that the record of conviction contained insufficient evidence to support the determination that the murder involved torture, and reversed the denial of the resentencing petition. (*Id.* at pp. 5-6, 23-32.) Following a further hearing in the trial court, appellant's resentencing petition was again denied. (See *People v. Padilla* (December 21, 2017, B277715) [nonpubl. opn.].) The Court of Appeal affirmed. (*Id.* at pp. 25-29.)

Meanwhile, appellant had also filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in the trial court seeking resentencing under United States Supreme Court authority. After a resentencing hearing in July 2015, the trial court reimposed the LWOP term. Appellant appealed in case number B265614. (People v. Padilla (2016) 4 Cal.App.5th 656, 661, rev. granted Jan. 25, 2017, S239454.) The Court of Appeal reversed and remanded for the trial court to exercise its discretion in resentencing appellant in light of guidance provided by an intervening United States Supreme Court decision. (Id. at pp. 661, 674.) On remand, the trial court held another resentencing hearing and once again sentenced appellant to LWOP. (Opn. 5; 1CT 169-170.) This appeal ensued.

While appellant's habeas corpus proceedings were underway, the electorate passed Proposition 57. (*People v. Superior Court (Lara)* (2018) 4 Cal.5th 299, 304.) The new law made various changes to the Welfare and Institutions Code, such as eliminating mandatory and discretionary direct filing of

juvenile cases in adult court, and eliminating various presumptions that a juvenile is not fit to be prosecuted in juvenile court under certain circumstances. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 707, subd. (a)(1).) Proposition 57 requires that an allegation of criminal conduct against any person under 18 years of age must be commenced in juvenile court. To prosecute the minor under general criminal law, the prosecution must file a motion to transfer the case from juvenile court to adult court. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 707, subd. (a)(1); Lara, supra, at p. 305.) This Court has held that, because Proposition 57 "ameliorated the possible punishment for a class of persons, namely juveniles," it is presumed, under the rule of In re Estrada (1965) 63 Cal.2d 740, 744-745, that the Legislature intended it to apply to all nonfinal judgments. (Lara, supra, at p. 308.) In nonfinal cases that have already proceeded in adult court, the remedy is a conditional reversal for the trial court to make a determination whether the defendant is unfit to be dealt with under the juvenile court law. (*Id.* at pp. 310, 312-313.)

In the present appeal, appellant argued that he is entitled to a Proposition 57 fitness hearing. The Court of Appeal agreed. It held that Proposition 57 applies to appellant's case, under *Estrada*, because "his sentence was vacated and his sentence is no longer final." (Opn. 3.) It acknowledged that finality for *Estrada* purposes is "easy to apply in a typical case" but that "questions have arisen as to how this rule applies in different procedural settings." (Opn. 12.) Invoking this Court's decision in *People v. Jackson* (1967) 67 Cal.2d 96, the court concluded that "a

collateral proceeding may reopen the finality of a sentence for retroactivity purposes, even while the conviction remains final." (Opn. 14.) Because the finality of appellant's sentence had been "reopened" in the course of his habeas corpus litigation, the Court of Appeal remanded for a retroactive fitness hearing under Proposition 57. (Opn. 14-20.)

REASONS FOR GRANTING THE PETITION

THIS CASE PRESENTS AN IMPORTANT QUESTION OF LAW THAT HAS DIVIDED THE LOWER COURTS CONCERNING THE NATURE AND SCOPE OF *ESTRADA*'S PRESUMPTION OF RETROACTIVITY FOR NEW AMELIORATIVE LAWS

This Court's decision in *In re Estrada* (1965) 63 Cal.2d 740 established a presumption that the Legislature intends a new ameliorative law to apply to all nonfinal criminal judgments. This Court has not had occasion to address whether the *Estrada* presumption should extend to a judgment that was final after initial review but is "reopened" through alteration or amendment—for example, on habeas corpus, as in this case—after the enactment of an ameliorative law. That question is an important one that has generated conflicting decisions in the courts below and should be resolved by this Court.

A. The question presented by this case is of broad importance

In *Estrada*, this Court held that "[w]hen the Legislature amends a statute so as to lessen the punishment," the "amendatory act imposing the lighter punishment can be applied constitutionally to acts committed before its passage provided the judgment convicting the defendant of the act is not final." (63

Cal.2d at p. 745.) The basic rule of finality for these purposes is that a criminal judgment becomes final when "the courts can no longer provide a remedy to a defendant on direct review." (*In re Spencer* (1965) 63 Cal.2d 400, 405.) Generally, that rule will be straightforward and easy to apply for *Estrada* purposes. (See *Lara*, *supra*, 4 Cal.5th at pp. 304-305, 309 [holding that Proposition 57 applies retroactively to nonfinal judgments in context of a case still pending in adult trial court].)² But as the court below acknowledged, it is not clear whether the *Estrada* presumption applies in other contexts, such as the one at issue here. California law generally considers the sentence an essential part of the judgment. (See *McKenzie*, *supra*, 9 Cal.5th at p. 46.) Thus, as the court below observed, an alteration or amendment to a criminal defendant's sentence can "reopen" a judgment that was final under the general rule.

This Court has not addressed whether *Estrada* applies to a "reopened" judgment. *Estrada* established the presumption of retroactivity in the context of a judgment that was not yet final on a first appeal, and it had no occasion to further define "finality" for purposes of that presumption because the defendant had not yet been tried, convicted, or sentenced when the

² Of course, as with nearly every legal rule, some gray areas may exist even when the vast majority of cases can be easily categorized. (See, e.g., *People v. McKenzie* (2020) 9 Cal.5th 40 [addressing whether judgment was final for *Estrada* purposes where probationer's time to appeal underlying conviction had expired but his case was on appeal following probation revocation and sentencing].)

ameliorative statute went into effect. (Estrada, supra, 63 Cal.2d at p. 744.) And subsequent cases in which this Court has found Estrada applicable to a statutory amendment did not present the question of a "reopened" judgment. (See, e.g., Lara, supra, 4 Cal.5th at p. 304; People v. Wright (2006) 40 Cal.4th 81, 85; People v. Francis (1969) 71 Cal.2d 66, 75.) Even where this Court has determined that Estrada is not controlling, the relevant statutory change occurred while the defendant was either pending sentencing or on his first direct appeal. (See People v. Brown (2012) 54 Cal.4th 314, 318-319; In re Pedro T. (1994) 8 Cal.4th 1041, 1044.) The Jackson case, upon which the Court of Appeal relied, involved a penalty retrial that occurred after the intervening new law; it did not address the scope or nature of the Estrada presumption. (See Jackson, supra, 67 Cal.2d at p. 100.)

The issue is of broad importance. While the facts of this case concern application of Proposition 57, the determinative legal question has to do with the nature and scope of the *Estrada* presumption. The question whether *Estrada* applies to "reopened" judgments could implicate any similar ameliorative law in any case in which a criminal defendant's judgment is altered or amended after it was initially final on direct review. That would be a significant expansion of the rule. And yet this Court has described the *Estrada* presumption as playing a "limited role" in our jurisprudence. (*Brown*, *supra*, 54 Cal.4th at p. 324.) The Legislature is capable of directing when and how a statute may operate retroactively, and it frequently does so. (See, e.g., *People v. DeHoyos* (2018) 4 Cal.5th 594; *People v. Conley*

(2016) 63 Cal.4th 646). The Court has therefore described the rule as a "reasonable" presumption that is applicable "in a specific context" only when it is otherwise impossible to determine the Legislature's intent. (*Brown*, *supra*, at p. 324.) Whether the rule should be expanded to apply to "reopened" judgments—whether that would be a reasonable presumption of legislative intent, or indeed, whether a contrary limitation would be merely vengeful (see *Estrada*, *supra*, 63 Cal.2d at p. 745)—is a question of substantial import that should be resolved by this Court.

B. This Court's review is warranted to resolve a conflict in the decisions of the Courts of Appeal

The issue has also resulted in conflicting lower court decisions. In the instant case, the Court of Appeal applied Estrada where appellant's judgment and sentence were final on direct appeal in 2001 but "reopened" a decade later for reasons unrelated to Proposition 57. (Opn. 14-19.) One day after the decision below was filed, the Fourth District Court of Appeal reached an opposite conclusion in People v. Federico (2020) 50 Cal.App.5th 318 [2020 WL 3097092]. There, after the judgment was final on direct review, the defendant's sentence was recalled under section 1170, subdivision (d), and he was resentenced. On appeal, he argued that this "reopened" his judgment for Estrada purposes and that he was therefore entitled to a retroactive transfer hearing under Proposition 57, which had been enacted after his judgment was initially final. (Id. at *4.) The Court of Appeal held that a resentencing under section 1170, subdivision (d), does not "reopen" a judgment for *Estrada* purposes or for

purposes of the "full resentencing rule." Because the defendant's judgment was "long final" at the time Proposition 57 was enacted, the defendant was not entitled to a retroactive transfer hearing. (*Id.* at *4-5.)

The conflicting results in these opinions should be resolved to secure uniformity of decision. Although the two cases involved different reasons for resentencing, it is far from clear that this provides a basis for distinguishing application of Estrada in the two contexts, which are otherwise closely analogous. (See, e.g., McKenzie, supra, 9 Cal.5th at p. 46 ["the terms 'judgment' and 'sentence' are generally considered synonymous and there is no judgment of conviction without a sentence'; citations and quotation marks omitted].) The *Federico* court suggested that the section 1170, subdivision (d), proceeding did not "reopen" the judgment at all. (Federico, supra, 2020 WL 3097092 at *4.) But even if that is case, this Court's intervention would provide needed clarity about the circumstances under which the *Estrada* presumption applies.³ In light of these two decisions, whether and how a particular event in a case after finality on direct appeal might implicate the *Estrada* rule is an issue that could generate confusion and inconsistency. This Court should resolve the conflict.

³ *Federico*, which was decided one day after the instant case, did not cite or address the decision below.

CONCLUSION

The petition for review should be granted.