### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,	)	
OF CALIFORNIA,	)	0
	)	Supreme Court
Plaintiff and Respondent,	)	No. S263375
	)	
v.	)	Court of Appeal
	)	No. B297213
MARIO SALVADOR PADILLA,	)	
	)	Superior Court
Defendant and Appellant.	)	No. TA051184

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF LOS ANGELES COUNTY Honorable Ricardo R. Ocampo, Judge

\_)

### **APPELLANT'S ANSWER**

JONATHAN E. DEMSON Attorney at Law Cal. State Bar No. 167758 1158 26th Street #291 Santa Monica, CA 90403 (310) 405-0332 jedlaw@me.com

Attorney for Appellant

#

#### ARGUMENT

## I. THE PETITION FOR REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED BECAUSE THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW HAS LITTLE OR NO RELEVANCE TO THIS CASE AND BECAUSE THERE IS NO CONFLICT IN THE CASE LAW ARISING FROM THE COURT OF APPEAL'S HOLDING IN THIS CASE

In its petition for review, respondent frames the issue presented for review as whether the assumption of retroactivity addressed in *In re Estrada* (1965) 63 Cal.2d 270 applies "when a judgment was final before the ameliorative change in the law but is later altered or amended for a reason unrelated to the new law?" (PFR at p. 5.) In so framing the issue, respondent has presented a question that appears to have little or no relevance to this case.

Here, appellant's sentence was *vacated* by the superior court in 2014. (See *People v. Padilla* (2020) 50 Cal.App.5th 244, 248.) As the court of appeal explained: "We begin with the simple observation that appellant's sentence is not final: the superior court vacated his original sentence and resentenced him, we then reversed his new sentence and remanded for another resentencing, and appellant has taken this direct appeal from his second resentencing. Because appellant's sentence is still pending on direct appeal, his judgment is not final under our Supreme Court's definition of finality for retroactivity purposes." (*Id.* at pp. 253-254.) Thus, this is not a case in which the judgment has been merely "altered or amended" (PFR at p. 5),

 $\mathbf{5}$ 

but rather one in which it might be more apt to say that the judgment has been 'replaced.'

The distinction is not without significance. In *People v. Federico* (2020) 50 Cal.App.5th 318, the defendant's 20-year determinate sentence was recalled pursuant to Penal Code section 1170, subdivision (d)(1), after the CDCR sent a letter advising the trial court that one part of the sentence (additional prison terms imposed for two overlapping enhancements) was unauthorized. Pursuant to the 'full resentencing rule' discussed by this Court in *People v. Buycks* (2018) 5 Cal.5th 857, 893-894, the trial court recalculated Federico's entire sentence, eliminating the unauthorized part of the sentence, resulting in an aggregate determinate sentence of 17 years. (*Federico, supra,* 50 Cal.App.5th at pp. 322-323.)

On appeal, the *Federico* court rejected Federico's claim that he was entitled to a transfer hearing pursuant to Proposition 57 because the recall of his sentence rendered the judgment in his case nonfinal. As the *Federico* court explained, "even if a trial court has authority to recall a sentence under section 1170, subdivision (d), it does not follow that the sentence is not a final judgment under *Estrada*.... Contrary to defendant's claim, section 1170, subdivision (d), says nothing about 'reopening' a judgment that has been final for years, in order to apply recently enacted laws retroactively. Moreover, remanding the case to the juvenile court for a fitness hearing pursuant to Proposition 57 would certainly not comply with the language of section 1170, subdivision (d)." (50 Cal.App.5th at pp. 326-327.)

6

The *Federico* court's analysis is consistent with this Court's observation that "recall of . . . a sentence does not restore a convicted felon to presentence status." (People v. Johnson (2004) 32 Cal.4th 260, 268.) In Johnson, this Court considered whether the recall of a sentence pursuant to Penal Code section 1170, subdivision (d), returns the defendant to a pre-sentencing status that would entitled him or her to pre-sentence custody credits. In rejecting Johnson's claim, this Court explained: "The trial court here recalled the sentence solely for correction of a prison sentence already in progress and reimposed a state prison sentence at the recall hearing. As with an appellate remand solely for correction of a sentence already in progress, a recall of sentence does not remove a prisoner from the Director's custody or restore the prisoner to presentence status as contemplated by section 4019." (Id. at p. 267.) As this Court further observed, "a recall under section 1170, subdivision (d), does not necessarily modify the judgment or render it invalid; a trial court may reimpose the same judgment after a recall of sentence." (Id. at p. 268.)

Federico may indeed present a case in which the judgment has been, as respondent puts it, merely "altered or amended" (PFR at p. 5) as opposed to vacated and replaced. As respondent acknowledges (PFR at p. 13), the *Federico* court rejected Federico's claim that the recall of his sentence rendered the judgment in his case nonfinal. (*Federico, supra,* 50 Cal.App.5th at p. 326 ["The fact that he could appeal the court's decision made on February 26, 2019 (the instant appeal) does not render the 2008 judgment not final"].) Here, by contrast, appellant's original sentence was vacated, rendering the judgment in his case nonfinal. (See *Jimenez v. Quarterman* (2009) 555 U.S. 113, 119-120 [129 S.Ct. 681, 172 L.Ed.2d 475] [a judgment that has become final may become non-final once again if reopened]; *People v. Garcia* (1995) 32 Cal. App. 4th 1756, 1769 ["The first sentence had been vacated—for good reason . . . . It was a nullity. The trial court properly resentenced defendant 'from scratch'"].)

Respondent characterizes *Federico* and this case as mutually incompatible, warranting review by this Court in order "to resolve a conflict in the decisions of the Courts of Appeal." (PFR at pp. 12-13.) It does not appear, however, that the holdings in *Federico* and this case are in conflict. This case does not involve the recall of a sentence pursuant to Penal Code section 1170, subdivision (d), but rather the vacatur of a sentence that was held unconstitutional. Respondent acknowledges that "the two cases involved different reasons for resentencing" (PFR at p. 13), and as the analyses in the two decisions make clear, that difference was determinative with respect to the finality of the judgment in each case.

As this and other courts have observed, whether the finality of the judgment is affected by a change in sentence depends generally on the statutory or constitutional basis for the resentencing. (Cf. *Peracchi v. Superior Court* (2003) 30 Cal.4th 1245, 1254-1255 ["when an appellate court determines that error has occurred below, Penal Code sections 1260 and 1262 grant the

8

reviewing court the authority to select among several dispositions, including but *not limited to* reversal of the judgment and the granting of a new trial. A reviewing court's remand for resentencing pursuant to Penal Code section 1260 is but one of these available dispositions and does not necessarily involve (or itself constitute) a reversal of the judgment"]; *Johnson, supra,* 32 Cal.4th at p. 268 ["a recall under section 1170, subdivision (d), does not necessarily modify the judgment or render it invalid"]; *People v. Johnson* (2019) 32 Cal.App.5th 938, 942 ["Appellant's subsequent habeas petitions and motions do not extend the date on which his judgment became final for purposes of Senate Bill No. 620 because, although he sought it, appellant did not 'obtain[] collateral relief by way of a state or federal habeas corpus proceeding' "].)

To compare *Federico* with this case is, thus, to compare apples and oranges, and their respective holdings do not appear to present a conflict in the case law. Review of whether *Federico* was correctly decided would presumably require an examination of the language and legislative intent found in Penal Code section 1170, subdivision (d), raising issues of no relevance to this case. On the other hand, "whether the *Estrada* presumption should extend to a judgment that was final after initial review but is 'reopened' through alteration or amendment—for example, on habeas corpus, as in this case— after the enactment of an ameliorative law," a separate issue raised in respondent's petition (PFR at p. 9), seems of questionable relevance to cases impacted by the holding in *Federico*.

9

Respondent's petition thus raises a mishmash of different questions, perhaps related thematically in terms of a defendant's eligibility for a transfer hearing, but ultimately addressing separate and distinct issues, including the finality of judgments in criminal cases, whether *Estrada* applies to cases in which the judgment has been 'reopened,' and the language and legislative intent of laws not implicated in this case. The application of the *Estrada* rule because the judgment has been reopened is certainly part of the Court of Appeal's holding in this case. But respondent's characterization of this case as "a significant expansion" of Estrada with "broad" and "substantial" importance that could "generate confusion and inconsistency" (PFR at pp. 11, 12, 13) brings unwarranted focus on a relatively straightforward aspect of the Court of Appeal's holding that, to the extent it is invoked as controlling precedent in future cases, is not in conflict with other court of appeal cases and does not appear to depart in any substantial way from this Court's jurisprudence on this issue.

## CONCLUSION

For all the reasons set forth above, respondent's petition for review should be denied.